

A POSITIVE VISION FOR CHILD CARE POLICY ACROSS CANADA

AVOIDING THE SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC PITFALLS OF "UNIVERSAL" CHILD CARE

January 2019

C^RDUS

THIS DOCUMENT IS THE RESULT of a collaborative process in which Cardus Family conducted consultations with child care stakeholders, academics, parents, educators, NGOs and think tanks. The following parties have signed on to this document and more will be added as we promote the paper. The only shared consensus for signatories is the recognition that "universal" systems do not work. While there are several policy options in the recommendation section, not every signatory to this paper will agree with each of these. We share agreement in rejecting so-called universal systems put forward by government and otherwise welcome a robust discussion and exploration of a diversity of public policy options.

RICK AUGUST, Independent Public Policy Analyst, Regina, Saskatchewan

BRENDA BURNS, President, Child Care Providers Resource Network of Ottawa-Carleton

SARAH GODOY, Mother, BFA

AMORIZA GUNNINK, M.Ed

SAMUEL HAMMOND, Director of Poverty and Welfare Policy, Niskanen Center

HEIDI HIGGINS, Co-founder, Coalition of Independent Child Care Providers of Ontario

PAIGE MACPHERSON, Atlantic Director, Canadian Taxpayers Federation

LYDIA MILJAN, PhD, University of Windsor

ANDREA MROZEK, Cardus

REGNARD RAQUEDAN, Co-Founder of ParentUp, MBA, MS, A-CSMSM, CSPO®, UXC

LIBBY SIMON, MSW

PETER SHAWN TAYLOR, Contributing Editor, Maclean's

HELEN WARD, Mother, President of Kids First Parents Association



CARDUS is a non-partisan, faith-based think tank and registered charity dedicated to promoting a flourishing society through independent research, robust public dialogue, and thought-provoking commentary.

cardus.ca/research/family

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
INTRODUCTION	7
PRINCIPLES OF GREAT CHILD CARE POLICY	8
Choice	8
Funding Neutrality	8
Quality	9
Diversity	9
Parent Accountability	9
Best Interests of the Child	9
HISTORY AND CULTURE: What Makes for Different Approaches to Child Care?	10
Canada and the OECD	11
Targeting Versus "Universality"]11
Defining Terms	12
Further Categorizations of Family Policy	14
PROVISION FOR FAMILIES IN CANADA	15
A Brief History of Canadian Federal Family Policy	15
Recently Signed Early-Learning and Child Care Agreements	17
Table 1: Federal Budget for Early-Learning and Child Care Agreements	17
Other Monies Transferred from the Federal Government to the Provinces	17
The Funding of Child Care: Province by Province	19
INTERNATIONAL EXAMPLES (Liberal, Social Democratic, Conservative)	20
United States: Liberal Child Care Policy	20
Sweden and Finland: Both Social-Democratic, Different Family Policy	21
France: Conservative Family Policy	23
Hungary: Conservative or Social Democratic?	24
CARING FOR CHILDREN: Why Institutional "Early Learning" Doesn't Help	25
Socialization vs. Being Social	25
The Problem of Peer-Orientation	26
The Importance of Emotional Intimacy	27
WHAT'S HAPPENING IN QUEBEC?	27
IS THERE A CHILD CARE SPACE SHORTAGE or a Surplus?	30
WHY "UNIVERSAL" CHILD CARE IS THE MOST EXPENSIVE and the Least Sustainable	32
HOW CHILD CARE SUBSIDIES INCREASE THE COST of Child Care for Everyone	34
A POSITIVE VISION OF FAMILY POLICY: Suggestions and Solutions	35
Federal Recommendations	35
Provincial Recommendations	37
APPENDIX: Kindergarten, Province by Province	39
BIBLIOGRAPHY	41

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This paper tells the history of family and child policy and funding in Canada, identifies philosophies around approaches to child care policy, cites international examples, and gives evidence for outcomes from Quebec-style early learning programs. At bottom, this paper draws attention to the fundamental inequality in child care funding today, which is based on the type of care parents choose. Where funding for child care is concerned, a positive vision includes equal funding for all families regardless of care type.

Instead, the child-care-policy landscape is shifting toward "universal systems" that don't effectively or strategically support families. Evidence lays to rest the myth that a universal system works in (1) providing high-quality child care and (2) providing sustainable child care. The creation of government-funded universal child care systems is structurally opposed to the diversity children and families need. With Quebec-style universal systems, many families are excluded from significant benefit, violating the human-rights principle of equal benefit under the law. Taxpayer money is currently allocated based on the style of child care chosen, violating the principle of free choice without discrimination based on lifestyle choices. Furthermore, government funding for child care systems is opposed to what Canadians prefer. Finally, peer-reviewed research is clear on the lack of benefit for the majority of middle-class children in universal state care.



In light of all this, we asked the following questions:

- What has the tradition in child care policy been in Canada to date?
- What can we learn from international example?
- What are the characteristics of great child care policy?
- What principles should guide a positive vision for child care?
- Which policies best reflect these guiding principles?

The history of child and family policy places Canada in the tradition of liberal diversity. As a result, a number of different solutions are on the table. Again, those solutions reflect politics that are both left and right, ranging from high subsidies to families, to lower taxes. The only shared consensus for signatories to this paper is the recognition that "universal" systems do not work.

The goal of this collaborative effort is to take "universal" child care as an option off the table, once and for all.

Each province therefore can and should take its own approach in early learning and care, as should each municipality, understanding that the care of small children should rest very close to those needing the care. The federal government will want to pursue policy to maximize freedom and choice.

"Child care" here is defined as the care of a child, regardless of who does it. Respect for parental preference in the early years is paramount. The freedom to decide what works for a family comes when many different options are on the table, and this freedom is the result of parents having more money in their pockets. We understand and recognize that in different parts of the country the challenges to care are different—for example, that in rural care, the situation is drastically different from that in an urban centre. This points to the need for solutions that are community based, and not delivered from Ottawa or other provincial capitals.

While child care is largely a provincial jurisdiction, we also examine federal policy in order to set the stage and understand the overarching policy under which provincial policy lives. As we navigate this difficult topic, the principles outlined will be important in understanding how to best advance the provision of child care. There is interplay between all family, government, business, and civil-society organizations; and a thriving early learning and child care sector will not elevate one area at the expense of the other.

This white paper is the result of a collaborative effort from experts—parents, activists, academics, educators, businesspeople, think tanks, and NGOs. While we have put forward these options, we welcome a robust discussion and exploration of diverse public policy.

INTRODUCTION

THERE IS A FUNDAMENTAL INEQUALITY in child care funding today, based on the type of care parents choose. Where funding for child care is concerned, a positive vision includes equal funding for all families regardless of care type.

Instead, the child-care-policy landscape is shifting toward "universal systems" that don't effectively or strategically support families. Evidence lays to rest the myth that a "universal" system works in (1) providing high-quality child care and (2) providing sustainable child care. The creation of government-funded "universal" child care systems is structurally opposed to the diversity children and families need. With Quebec-style "universal" systems, many families are excluded from significant benefit, violating the human-rights principle of equal benefit under the law. Taxpayer money is currently allocated based on the style of child care chosen, violating the principle of free choice without discrimination based on lifestyle choices. Furthermore, government funding for child care systems is opposed to what Canadians prefer. Finally, peer-reviewed research is clear on the lack of benefit for the majority of middle-class children in "universal" state care.

Understanding all this, we asked:

- What has the tradition in child care policy been in Canada to date?
- What are the characteristics of great child care policy?
- What principles should guide a positive vision for child care?
- Which policies best reflect these guiding principles?

A review of the evidence as well as lived experience indicates that "universal" systems do not work. This is our shared viewpoint, outside which there is disagreement about the most effective family policies to pursue that do work. Thus, a number of different solutions are on the table, which reflects the fact that historic Canadian policy places Canada in a tradition of liberal diversity. These policy solutions are not agreeable to each signatory to this document, however, they represent a shared consensus about what we do know, which is that a "universal" system would create more problems than it would solve. The goal of this collaborative effort is to take "universal" child care as an option off

^{1. &}quot;Universal" as regards child care systems will be used in quotation marks, since these taxpayer-funded systems are not accessible to all. For more information, see Norma Kozhaya, "Quebec's Failed Child-Care Model," Montreal Economic Institute, May 10, 2007, https://www.iedm.org/1921-quebecs-failed-child-care-model.

^{2.} Rick August, "What Child Care Do Parents Really Want?," Rickaugust.ca, August 2015, http://rickaugust.ca/what-child-care-do-parents-really-want/.

^{3.} Michael Baker, Jonathan Gruber, and Kevin Milligan, "Universal childcare, maternal labor supply, and family well-being." *Journal of Political Economy* 116 (2008), 709–745. Michael J. Kottelenberg and Steven F. Lehrer, "New Evidence on the Impacts of Access to and Attending Universal Childcare in Canada," National Bureau of Economic Research, February 2013), https://doi.org/10.3386/w18785. Vincent Geloso, "Subsidized Daycare—What British Columbia Can Learn from Quebec's 20-Year Experiment," Fraser Institute, 2018, http://bit.ly/2u4CIRM. See also the section "What's Happening in Quebec" in this paper. The main source for positive benefits from early intervention is typically the Perry Preschool Project, which was a high-intensive intervention for a small group of severely at-risk kids in Michigan. The application of this to a province or country is limited. There is overarching consensus that the early years matter for child development. The debate occurs over how to best help in those early years.

the table, once and for all. We share the understanding that "universal" care is discriminatory, doesn't work as advertised, and eventually eradicates other choices.

Each province therefore can and should take its own approach in early learning and care, as should each municipality, understanding that the care of small children should rest very close to those needing the care. The federal government will want to pursue policy to maximize freedom and choice.

Our principles for good child care policy—choice, neutrality, quality, diversity, parent accountability, and the best interests of the child—are based on the **historic**Canadian commitment to these factors.

"Child care" here is defined as the care of a child, regardless of who does it. Respect for parental preference in the early years is paramount. The freedom to decide what works for a family comes when many different options are on the table, and this largely comes through a funding model that prioritizes money to parents. We understand and rec-

ognize that in different parts of the country the challenges to care are different—for example, that in rural care, the situation is drastically different from that in an urban centre. This points to the need for solutions that are community based, and not delivered from Ottawa or other provincial capitals.

While child care is largely a provincial jurisdiction, this white paper also examines federal policy in order to set the stage and understand the overarching policy under which provincial policy lives. As we navigate this difficult topic, the principles outlined in the following section will be important in understanding how to best advance the provision of child care. There is interplay between all family, government, business, and civil-society organizations and a thriving early-learning and child care sector will not elevate one area at the expense of the other.

This white paper is the result of a collaborative effort from experts—parents, activists, academics, educators, businesspeople, think tanks, and NGOs. While we have put forward these options, we welcome a robust discussion and exploration of diverse public policy.

PRINCIPLES OF GREAT CHILD CARE POLICY

THE FOLLOWING are the key principles undergirding our approach to great child care policy.

CHOICE | Real choice means accommodation for many diverse types of care. Choice means the equitable treatment of independent care providers, as well as stressing the power and importance of mothers, fathers, grandparents, extended family, or any other person of the primary caregiver's choice. Contrast a top-down, one-size-fits-all system with the personal, intimate, local, and child-focused needs and wants of parents in a diversity of places, urban and rural.

FUNDING NEUTRALITY | All levels of government must remain neutral about the type of child care parents choose, acting only to provide quality regulations based on peer-reviewed research. Centres, public or private, not-for-profit or for-profit, home-based care, faith-based care, nannies, parents, and extended family: it's all care, and the government does not prioritize one type over

another, parents and families do. A government monopoly on child care would be negative, just as a corporate monopoly would be. State neutrality opens up a beautiful patchwork quilt of care—one where parents can make their own choices. State neutrality places a safety framework over non-parental care but otherwise steps back without imposing values on Canadian families.

QUALITY | Child-care settings should be subject to simple, consistent, and easily understood and enforced quality and safety standards that are transparently enforced. They should not be bogged down in inaccessible, changing, or unknown regulations that have more to do with insurance and legal requirements than on quality and safety. Parents cannot be alienated from standards of quality—they need to be able to measure what care is better quality.



DIVERSITY | Diversity is our strength. Different communities can create their own child care. The principle of subsidiarity means ensuring that decisions are taken as closely as possible to the citizen.⁴ This links closely to the neutrality principle. A corporate or government monopoly means parental choice and quality suffer. Working together, we can allow for a diversity of child care options to flourish. In the past, advocates of "universal" care bemoaned the "patchwork" of care across the country. Patchwork quilts are a beautiful art form to celebrate. They are a symbol of different types of care coming together into one whole cloth.

PARENT ACCOUNTABILITY | In existing publicly funded school settings, parents are often shut out or find it difficult to access resources for their children, particularly where special needs exist. The need to advocate for your child and liaise with staff is even more important at younger ages. Direct involvement with a child care provider ensures the best interests of the family are met because the provider is dependent on a good relationship with the family. Parents lack formal representation such as a union and thus lack power in the public square. Funding parents instead of providers helps parents find their place and restores power to parents. Regardless of situation, wealthy or poor, working in paid work outside the home or not, parents control the type, amount, and quality of child care their children receive. Parents need to know they are ultimately responsible for the quality of their children's care, regardless of type.

BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD | Evidence-based child care provision applies good, peer-reviewed research on what works well for child outcomes. Child care needs to ensure that child well-being is not compromised at any expense. Making economic or social arguments around child care, like drawing correlations to increased labour-force participation, raising the GDP, responding to gender equity in the workplace, or attempting to increase fertility rates may be interesting, but the best child care policy will be the one that prioritizes child well-being.

These important principles undergird good child care policy and point to enhancing existing solutions rather than the creation of a "universal" system.

^{4. &}quot;Subsidiarity," Eur-Lex, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/summary/glossary/subsidiarity.html.

HISTORY AND CULTURE: WHAT MAKES FOR DIFFERENT APPROACHES TO CHILD CARE?

A NATION'S APPROACH to child care begins with its overall approach to family policy, of which child care is a subsection. Countries have distinct histories, traditions, and cultures.

Olivier Thévenon, an economist with the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), suggests that a family policy which is reflective of the country's history will contribute to the policy's success. In a comparative analysis of family policies across the OECD, he writes: "The historical backgrounds against which family policies have developed are diverse, particularly as regards the roles of state, family and labor market: policy responses are shaped by these contexts." 5

To help us understand the broader context for all policy, including family policy, Danish sociologist Gøsta Esping-Anderson identified three types of welfare states: conservative, liberal, and social-democratic. A Canadian sociologist, Curtis Pankratz, used that classification to see how family policies fall in line with the approach taken to general social policies.⁶ If Thévenon is right, and the extent to which a policy is reflective of a country's roots helps ensure success, then better understanding the historic roots of different states could help establish the extent to which a particular policy will work well there.

Pankratz highlights the different roots of the three types of welfare states:

Liberal welfare states are dominated by the logic of the market. Benefits are modest, often means-tested and stigmatizing. These welfare states tend to be low spenders. Conservative/corporatist welfare states are less controlled by markets but their benefits tend to be stratified, and therefore their overall redistributive effects are minimal. These regimes are generally shaped by historical church traditions, and this tends to determine their conservative attitudes toward social policy. The third welfare state type is social democratic. This type is based on universalism and "usurpation" of the market. It is committed to the principle of full employment, and social spending tends to be high, while spending on tax benefits, which are less redistributive, is comparatively low.⁷

In short, we learn that liberal states stem from belief in free-market capitalism and include countries like Australia, the United Kingdom, Canada, and the United States. Conservative states have roots in a reaction to the tearing down of social structures and institutions in the French Revolution and include Germany, France, Belgium, and Austria.⁸ Finally, social-democratic welfare states have their roots in Marxism, and this includes countries like Sweden.⁹

Canada is in the liberal category, but is heterogeneous. For example, Quebec marks an exception from liberalism, as Canada's only province with a highly subsidized "universal" child care system. International

^{5.} Olivier Thévenon, "Family Policies in OECD Countries: A Comparative Analysis," *Population and Development Review* 37, no. 1 (n.d.): 57, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2011.00390.x.

^{6.} Curt J. Pankratz, "Cross-National Comparisons of Family Policies: The Relevance of National Approaches to Social Welfare," *Journal of Comparative Family Studies* 40, no. 3 (2009): 493–511.

^{7.} Pankratz, "Cross-National Comparisons of Family Policies."

^{8.} Pankratz, "Cross-National Comparisons of Family Policies," 503.

^{9.} Pankratz, "Cross-National Comparisons of Family Policies," 494.

assessments often do not get into the provincial weeds, instead describing Canada as having a federalist structure, which delegates authority to the provinces. Yet particularly in the distinct society that is Quebec, one cannot overlook the different history and traditions in that province. In a 2013 paper, Rod Beaujot clarifies the contrast: "The uniqueness of Quebec family policy can be related to its Civil Law tradition, in contrast to the rest of the country, which is based on British Common Law." 10

Understanding that Canada's approach to family policy has been heterogeneous highlights that no particular path in child care should be taken for granted, or assumed to be more effective, or more "Canadian." We have many options available to us, based in our history and tradition.

Our principles for good child care policy—choice, neutrality, quality, diversity, parent accountability, and the best interests of the child—are based on the historic Canadian commitment to these factors.

TARGETING VERSUS "UNIVERSALITY"

Another manner in which to consider family policy includes whether benefits are targeted toward a specific group, by income, for example, or universally available to all regardless of income level. A 2014 paper by University of Saskatchewan public policy professor Daniel Béland et al. contrasts social-democratic countries Denmark and Sweden with liberal

CONTINUED ON PAGE 14

10. Roderic Beaujot, Ching Jiangqin Du, and Zenaida Ravanera, "Family Policies in Quebec and the Rest of Canada: Implications for Fertility, Child-Care, Women's Paid Work, and Child Development Indicators," *Canadian Public Policy*, June 25, 2013, https://doi.org/10.3138/CPP.39.2.221.



CANADA AND THE OECD

A recent *Policy Options* article about child care begins by saying that Canada is ranked lowest of all OECD countries for public spending on child care services, at 0.2 percent of GDP.¹¹

Why is this? It's the definition of "child care" and the word "services" that are problematic. In the past, OECD reports have gathered Canadian funding data only for kindergarten because services and funding for early childhood that isn't "a system" isn't easily counted. All other benefits, including billions via the Canada Social Transfer, are ignored.¹²

Provincial and local spending, even on institutional child care spaces, is not counted, because it isn't federal, and getting into the provinces is understandably tricky for a body like the OECD.

This is something the OECD recognizes in Public Spending on Childcare and Early Education, a document in which they define terms and explain their methodology. They write:

Local governments often play a key role in financing, and sometimes provide childcare services. This spending is recorded in Nordic countries, but in some other (often federal) countries, it is not properly captured in the data and it is much more difficult to get a good view of public support for childcare across such countries. This is because local governments may use different funding streams to finance childcare services, for example, non-earmarked general block-grants, as in Canada (no data presented here), or because information on spending by local governments on childcare is not reported to national authorities, for example, in Switzerland (no data presented here).¹³

DEFINING TERMS

CHILD CARE | "Child care in this report refers to the care of a child, regardless of who does it. This includes: parents, extended family, schools, kindergarten, siblings, nannies, centre care, and more." This is the definition cited in a 1988 Statistics Canada National Child Care Survey. Conversely, "child care" in the media often means paid care or centre-based day care, staffed by professionals. Conflicts arise in the basic definition of child care since major corporatist entities, such as the OECD, view child care as a necessity to facilitate parents, particularly mothers, working in the paid, GDP-enhancing workforce. Certainly, getting mothers into the paid workforce remains a goal of the Canadian government. In order to establish equitable funding for child care, the definition must include parents and family.

EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE (ECEC) | ECEC officially refers to any education or care before grade one. It often functions as a proxy for institutional, centre-based, professionally run day care.

CHILD CARE RESEARCH | Research into ECEC skews heavily toward studying child care centres and formalized care by professionals, not care offered in homes. Most often family or home-based care is not included when contrasting types of care and their outcomes. This can lead to a skewed sense of what is beneficial for children, with a disproportionate reliance on the importance of systems and programs for the simple reason that nothing else is being so closely examined. Write the authors of a paper about in-home child care: "Research on early childhood education and care (ECEC) policy focuses overwhelmingly on formal, centre-based provision and, to a lesser extent, on family day care (or childminding) provided in the homes of registered carers." 16

DEFAMILIZATION | Defamilization aims to dismantle the familialist welfare state. There is a modern ideological convergence between Marxism and business-oriented "right wing" entities like the OECD and the World Bank working toward the shared goal of introducing more child care spaces. State-funded day care is key in the new visioning of family policy and society. Marxism's distrust of the private family partners with business interests toward the goal of "the public child" or "the new

^{11.} Gabriel Arsenault, Olivier Jacques, and Antonia Maioni, "What Makes Quebec Such an Outlier on Child Care?," Policy Options, April 24, 2018, http://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/april-2018/what-makes-quebec-such-an-outlier-on-child-care/.

^{12.} Shawn Tupper testimony: Senate of Canada, "Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology," Senate of Canada, June 7, 2007, https://sencanada.ca/en/committees/soci/.

^{13. &}quot;Public Spending on Childcare and Early Education," Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, November 22, 2016, https://www.oecd.org/els/soc/PF3_1_Public_spending_on_childcare_and_early_education.pdf.

^{14.} From the survey (IP means "Interviewed Parent"): "Child Care: Child care is any form of care used by the IP for children under 13 years of age while the IP was engaged in paid or unpaid work, study, or other personal or social activities during the reference week. Care is classified by method of care (e.g., day care center, before and after school program, informal babysitter, etc.); by location (e.g., school, own home, other private home, elsewhere); and by relationship of the child to the caregiver (e.g., aunt, grandparent, or non-relative). Also identified in the survey is time children spent in school, in their own care, or in the care of a sibling or IP's spouse while the IP was working or studying." Statistics Canada and Health and Welfare Canada, "Canadian National Child Care Study, Introductory Report," Catalogue 89-526E, February 1992, 134, http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2016/statcan/CS89-526-1992-eng.pdf.

^{15.} Advisory Council on Economic Growth, "Tapping Economic Potential through Broader Workforce Participation," February 6, 2017, https://www.budget.gc.ca/aceg-ccce/pdf/workforce-marche-travail-eng.pdf. 16. "Research on early childhood education and care (ECEC) policy focuses overwhelmingly on formal, centre-based provision and, to a lesser extent, on family day care (or childminding) provided in the homes of registered carers." Elizabeth Adamson and Deborah Brennan, "Return of the Nanny: Public Policy towards in-Home Childcare in the UK, Canada and Australia," *Social Policy and Administration* 51, no. 7 (n.d.): 1386–405, https://doi.org/10.1111/spol.12250.

child."¹⁷ Defamilization is not voter-driven, but depends on top-down promotion. Thus academic and child care space advocate Paul Kershaw writes government should "utilize the state's coercive power for the purpose of altering citizenry decisions."¹⁸ By contrast see "Familization/familialism."

FAMILIZATION/FAMILIALISM | Starting in the late 1800s, the Canadian approach to family reflected a desire to limit the damage, particularly to mothers and children, of industrialization. At the time, there was no minimum wage, no restrictions on hours of work, no laws protecting workers' safety, and no requirement to help injured workers or their dependents. The labour movement together with first-wave maternalist feminist organizations fought for legislation limiting this kind of exploitation of workers, including benefits to soften the blow to families due to workplace injuries, unemployment, and death of the breadwinner. The family wage was one such policy of the day, intended to support families as a whole. Suffragists, including Nellie McClung, head of the Women's Christian Temperance Union, sought the vote in order to equip women to safeguard the family. Direct cash benefits to families marked the basis of what today we call the welfare state.

FAMILY | All too often the family is, or in practice becomes, a way to expand the workforce or increase the GDP. The family is viewed as a collection of individuals, rather than a unified "little platoon" of civil society. This more utilitarian approach contrasts with seeing the family as a caring unit and one that enhances community life in many ways outside commodification. A civil-society approach to family sees the caring contribution of family as valuable with or without pay.

FAMILY POLICY | "Family policy" includes any government policy that touches on the family. This ranges from "social welfare legislation, policies concerning social services (such as daycare), income tax regulations, provisions in civil and criminal codes that determine who is responsible for certain types of dependents, family law, regulations concerning most social benefits, custody decisions, and many other social tools."²¹

KINDERGARTEN | Most jurisdictions provide care for five-year-olds before the legal age of school entry at six or seven. In some instances, kindergarten is pushed down to younger ages, as is the case in Ontario, where even some three-year-olds can attend.

"UNIVERSAL" CHILD CARE | "Universal" child care has wrongly been defined as meaning a Quebec-style system of public, state-funded, centre-based, and not-for-profit systems. In reality, all child care is by default universal, because every child must be cared for and is born into a family with this purpose. The reality of Quebec-style child care systems is that not everyone can gain access to the system. The difference with other targeted programs is that instead of helping those in need, the target audience are middle- to upper-class, educated families, who access the system on the backs of the poor. ²² So-called universal systems also presume that all parents want to make the same child care choices.

^{17.} Child Care Canada, "The OECD and the Reconciliation Agenda: Competing Blueprints," Occasional Paper 20, Childcare Resource and Research Unit, 2005, 25, http://www.childcarecanada.org/sites/default/files/op20.pdf. As discussed by Rianne Mahon in "Transnationalising (Child) Care Policy: the OECD and the World Bank," http://www.cccg.umontreal.ca/rc19/PDF/Mahon-R_Rc192009.pdf.

^{18.} Yasmeen Abu-Laban, *Gendering the Nation-State: Canadian and Comparative Perspectives* (Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 2009), 205.

^{19.} Jacques Rouillard et al., "Working-Class History," *The Canadian Encyclopedia*, https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/working-class-history/ (accessed June 26, 2018).

^{20.} Harry Gutkin and Mildred Gutkin, "Manitoba History: 'Give Us Our Due!' How Manitoba Women Won the Vote," Manitoba Historical Society, Autumn 1996, http://www.mhs.mb.ca/docs/mb_history/32/womenwonthevote.shtml.

^{21.} Margrit Eichler, Family Shifts: Families, Policies, and Gender Equality (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997), 6.

^{22.} Kozhaya, "Quebec's Failed Child-Care Model."

countries Canada and the United Kingdom. Béland asks whether "universality" is ascendant or on the decline.

His conclusion? In Denmark and Sweden "universality emerged as a major aspect of the postwar welfare state," where in Canada and the United Kingdom "the state plays a more modest role while voluntary, market-provided benefits are more central to the provision of welfare."²³

In general, the Canadian approach to benefits has been to deliver necessities like food, clothing, and housing through the efficiency of the market, targeting subsidies to those who cannot afford them. "Universal" approaches neglect targeting for those in need, while offering benefits to those who could otherwise pay for it themselves, in instances. This is true of child care, for example, in Quebec, home to Canada's only "universal" system.

FURTHER CATEGORIZATIONS OF FAMILY POLICY

In a 2002 Canadian report for the Conference Board of Canada, author Stephen Vail suggests that there are four categories of family policy, and that Canada takes a hybrid approach.²⁴

Vail further suggests there are two predominant family policy paradigms. The first, in place since the 1960s, is the "family responsibility" paradigm, which supports parents as the main actors in family life. This "has led to the establishment of maternity and parental leaves, tax advantages for families choosing parental child care, tax recognition of the costs of employment, child care subsidies and social assistance for lone parents choosing parental care."²⁵

The second is called "investing in children." This adopts a more state-interventionist view of the family and "enable[s] parents to participate in the labour force" as well as "early childhood development programs to foster healthy growth and increase school readiness." ²⁶

In a recent Canadian textbook, the family policy chapter also tells the story of two similar paradigms, renaming "family responsibility" as "it takes a family" and calling "investing in children" the "it takes a village" paradigm. The author writes that the former relies on (preferably) intact families, and the latter is more collectivist.²⁷

All of these categories have shortcomings, to be sure, and countries mix and mingle aspects of policy from different categories with success. For example, those who believe in family responsibility may also be very aware that raising children does indeed "take a village." The question is, who makes up the

^{23.} Daniel Béland et al., "The Universal Decline of Universality? Social Policy Change in Canada, Denmark, Sweden and the UK," Social Policy and Administration 48, no. 7 (n.d.): 740, https://doi.org/10.1111/spol.12064.

^{24.} Stephen Vail, "Family Values: Choosing a 'Made in Canada' Family Policy," Conference Board of Canada, January 2002, 10, http://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-library/abstract.aspx?did=234&AspxAutoDetect-CookieSupport=1.

^{25.} Vail, "Family Values," 10.

^{26.} Jane Jenson, "Changing the Paradigm: Family Responsibility or Investing in Children," Canadian Journal of Sociology 29, no. 2 (2004): 169–92.

^{27.} Lydia Miljan, *Public Policy in Canada: An Introduction*, 7th ed. (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2017).

village? In this day and age, where a true village (population-wise) is not the reality for most, "family responsibility" supporters would say parents choose the village.

PRINCIPLE: Another way of saying "it takes a village" is to say "it takes a village of attachment (to raise a child)." What this means is that parents and their children are surrounded by others with whom they feel a real personal connection and in whom they have deep trust. Equating the village with government is neither logical nor reasonable, but this very often is precisely what is done.

PROVISION FOR FAMILIES IN CANADA

A BRIEF HISTORY OF CANADIAN FEDERAL FAMILY POLICY

OVER THE YEARS, the Canadian government has been very active in the provision of family benefits. Policies have varied between money targeted toward those who need it most and universal benefits recognizing the importance of all families regardless of income level. Provincial and municipal family funding contribute substantially; however, here we encapsulate the federal history, to enhance understanding of where we, as Canadians, come from.²⁸

A BRIEF HISTORY OF CANADIAN FEDERAL FAMILY POLICY

- **1918** Canada introduces the Child Tax Exemption.
- 1945 Family Allowances start (so-called Baby Bonus). Maintained until 1992.
- **1971** The Child Care Expense Deduction (CCED) is established and subsidizes both regulated (formal) and unregulated (informal) child care.²⁹
- **1971** Maternity benefits are introduced for the first time.³⁰
- **1973** "Family allowances became taxable at the marginal tax rate of the higher income parent in 1973 and were thus no longer universal. . . . Between 1945 and 1973 benefits were not indexed."³¹ The targeting of benefits begins in 1974.
- **1970s–1990s** The federal government decreases cash transfers to families by targeting family income and not indexing benefits to cost of living.
- **1988** The Non-refundable Child Tax Credit replaces the Child Tax Exemption.
- **1988–1996** Quebec adopts a baby bonus program following a French model of larger payments at higher birth orders.

^{28.} Source unless otherwise noted is Pierre Lefebvre and Philip Merrigan, "Assessing Family Policy in Canada," *Institute for Research on Public Policy* 9, no. 5 (2003): http://irpp.org/research-studies/assessing-family-policy-in-canada/.

^{29.} Susan Prentice, Changing Child Care: Five Decades of Child Care Advocacy and Policy in Canada (Halifax: Fernwood, 2001).

^{30.} Peter Burton and Shelley Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children," *Canadian Public Policy* 43, no. 4 (2017): 299–330, https://doi.org/10.3138/cpp.2017-039.

^{31.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

- 1992 Federal government introduces another refundable tax credit, the Goods and Services Tax Credit.32
- **1993** The Child Tax Benefit (CTB) and the Work Income Supplement (WIS) replace Family Allowances and the Refundable and Non-refundable Child Tax Credit.
- 1997 Quebec replaces the baby bonus system with a subsidized five-dollar-a-day child care system. The price increases over the years and is today based on a sliding income scale.³³
- **1997** An income-tested Family Supplement (FS) is added to employment insurance. "Varying by family size and income, the Family Supplement can potentially increase the effective earnings replacement to a maximum of 80 percent. As of 2015, FS benefits are clawed back to zero at a family net income of \$25,921."34
- **1998** The Child Tax Benefit is renamed the Canada Child Tax Benefit (CCTB), and the National Child Benefit supplement (NCBS) replaces the Working Income Supplement (WIS).
- **2000** Early Childhood Development Agreements (ECDA) start and continue through today. These agreements between the federal and provincial governments promote "early childhood development, early learning and child care, and child care spaces." In 2014-2015 the government of Canada transferred \$1.313 billion to the provinces and territories in support of these goals.35
- **2001** Maternity benefits are expanded to include ten weeks of parental benefits and an additional twenty-five weeks of benefits.³⁶
- 2006 Universal Child Care Benefit is introduced. Families, regardless of income, receive \$100 per month.³⁷
- **2007** The Non-refundable child tax credit is reintroduced.³⁸
- **2014** Family taxation allows married couples with different marginal tax rates to transfer up to \$50,000 to generate benefits of up to \$2,000.39 This is cancelled in 2016.
- **2016** The CCTB, NCBS, and UCCB are rolled into one new benefit, the Canada Child Benefit, a targeted per-child benefit that decreases with increasing income levels. 40
- **2017** Parental benefits are changed slightly, offering a longer time of leave (up to eighteen months) at a lower payout rate.

^{32.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

^{33.} Caroline Plante, "Tax Season: Quebec Families Say Daycare Hike Will Take Bite Out of Their Budget," Montreal Gazette (blog), March 4, 2016, http://montrealgazette.com/news/quebec/tax-season-quebec-families-say-daycare-hike-will-take-bite-out-of-their-budget.

^{34.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

^{35.} Employment and Social Development Canada, "Horizontal Initiatives 2015–16 Report on Plans and Priorities," Government of Canada, February 27, 2015, https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/corporate/reports/departmental-plan/2016/initiatives.html.

^{36.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

^{37.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

^{38.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

^{39.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

^{40.} Burton and Phipps, "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children."

It is difficult to categorize the Canadian approach to family policy over the years. What is clear is that substantial attention has been paid to this policy area with a diversity of approaches, which suggests flexibility in the creation of future family policy.

RECENTLY SIGNED EARLY-LEARNING AND CHILD CARE AGREEMENTS

The Multilateral Early Learning and Child Care Framework is an entry point into dedicated federal money for child care spaces. Budget 2018 includes \$540 million allocated for 2018, \$545 million in 2019, and \$550 million in 2020 and 2021 respectively. This includes \$400 million for child care in the provinces and territories and \$100 million for Indigenous child care on reserve. The government has not been advertising this as a "universal" system, though some of the language may make it sound like one. The goals include "high-quality early learning and child care" with an emphasis on "recogniz[ing] the importance of qualifications and training for the early childhood work force." Other goals include that child care be "accessible, affordable and flexible," and the idea that "inclusive early learning and child care systems respect and value diversity."

In 2017, the federal government budgeted for \$1.2 billion over three years in agreements with the provinces, itemized in TABLE 1.45

OTHER MONIES TRANSFERRED FROM THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT TO THE PROVINCES

The federal government transferred at least \$16.1 billion between 2000 and today via the Canada Social Transfer. \$15.4 billion is accounted for under Early Childhood Development and Early Learning and Child Care. 46 More promises are being made:

TABLE 1: FEDERAL BUDGET FOR EARLY-LEARNING AND CHILD CARE AGREEMENTS

\$2,382,092

NWT \$2,453,191

\$2,391,493

\$3,519,129

\$11,818,026

\$7,383,089

\$9,941,829

\$144.9601M

\$15,621,272

\$13,848,167

\$45,630,673

\$51,036,249

2017-18

PEI

\$2,381,762

\$2,452,801

\$2,391,156

\$3,517,820

\$11,809,566

\$7,378,451

\$9,934,985

\$144.8369M

\$15,609,534

\$13,837,957

\$45,593,076

\$50,993,994

2018-19

Nunavut

\$2,381,762

\$2,452,801

\$2,391,156

\$3,517,820

\$11,809,566

\$7,378,451

\$9,934,985

\$144.8369M

\$15,609,534

\$13,837,957

\$45,593,076

\$50,993,994

2019-20

^{41. &}quot;Equality Growth: A Strong Middle Class," Government of Canada, February 27, 2018, https://www.budget.gc.ca/2018/docs/plan/budget-2018-en.pdf.

^{42.} Treasury Board of Canada, "Early Learning and Child Care," http://www.tbs-sct. gc.ca/hidb-bdih/plan-eng.aspx?Org=0&Hi=41&Pl=746 (accessed June 12, 2018).

^{43.} Employment and Social Development Canada, "Multilateral Early Learning and Child Care Framework," Government of Canada, April 3, 2018, https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/programs/early-learning-child-care/reports/2017-multilateral-framework.html.

^{44.} Employment and Social Development Canada, "Multilateral Early Learning and Child Care Framework."

^{45.} Employment and Social Development Canada, "Early Learning and Child Care Bilateral Agreements," Government of Canada, August 25, 2017, https://www.canada.ca/en/early-learning-child-care-agreement/agreements-provinces-territories.html.

^{46.} Treasury Board of Canada, "Early Learning and Child Care: Plans, Spending and Results," https://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/hidb-bdih/initiative-eng.aspx?Hi=41&YrAn=2018 (accessed June 15, 2018).

In the 2016 Fall Economic Statement the government proposes a further investment of \$21.9 billion in social infrastructure over 11 years. Budget 2017 will announce further details on the allocations of the new \$21.9 billion investment in social infrastructure. In order to flow funding to provinces and territories, bilateral agreements will be negotiated, while recognizing that Provinces and Territories are at different stages of development and allowing jurisdictions to identify priority areas.⁴⁷

RECOMMENDATION: In order for the bilateral agreements to be successful and effective, they will have to maximize freedom and flexibility.

There is space on the regulatory side to ensure and affirm flexibility. Diversity is an important quality to maintain, and true diversity flourishes where freedom is maintained for a community in a particular province to be able to respond to child care needs in a manner that befits that community. We would prefer money go to parents, but where this is not the path government takes, maximum freedom must be allowed for provinces to act in accordance with citizens' desires. Separate plans for child care in Indigenous communities seems a hopeful sign in this regard.



^{47.} Treasury Board of Canada, "Early Learning and Child Care."

THE FUNDING OF CHILD CARE: PROVINCE BY PROVINCE

While Canada thankfully currently has no "universal" plan, the federal government funds child care substantially. Maintaining flexibility in these recently signed bilateral agreements will be the key to their success. Funding should be put toward parents, to let funding follow the child, instead of spaces; however, if this is not the path governments take, then flexibility in how provinces handle child care is important. 4849

Federal	The federal government finished signing bilateral agreements with all the provinces in June 2018. \$7.5 billion was allocated in the last federal budget over the next eleven years, and this starts with \$500 million this fiscal year and increases to \$870 million annually by 2026. Budget 2018 includes \$540 million allocated for 2018, \$545 million in 2019, and \$550 million in 2020 and 2021 respectively. There is a separate agreement for Indigenous Early Learning and Child Care.
ВС	In Budget 2018, the government announced \$1 billion over the next three years to fund day care, widely viewed as a step toward a \$10- a-day system. ⁴⁸
АВ	In spring 2017, Alberta announced a pilot program. Twenty-two centres across the province will provide nearly 1,300 child care spaces for \$25 a day.
SK	No current movement toward a provincial government child care plan; Saskatchewan signed on to the federal agreement.
МВ	Spending \$6 million to create up to 739 new licensed child care spaces.
ON	Ontario is spending between \$1 billion and \$3 billion on capital and between \$600 million and \$750 million in annual operating expenses on 100,000 new spaces by 2021.
QC	Has had government day care since 1997 and therefore did not sign on to the federal framework. Quebec will still receive a portion of the federal funding. In 2014–2015 Quebec was spending \$2.6 billion annually on their provincial plan, at least a 700 percent increase from when they started. ⁴⁹
NB/NS/PEI	Signed on to the federal agreement.
NL	Reports show privately run day cares currently going under due to the recent move to full-day kindergarten. The funding allocation for Newfoundland and Labrador over a three-year period is close to \$7.5 million annually.

^{48.} Liam Britten, "2018 Budget Has Child-Care Rebates, Spaces but Not \$10-a-Day Child Care," *CBC News*, February 20, 2018, http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/ndp-childcare-10-a-day-budget-1.4544266.

^{49.} Michel Kelly-Gagnon, "Quebec's Costly Daycare Experiment," Montreal Economic Institute, August 24, 2015, https://www.iedm.org/55007-quebec-s-costly-daycare-experiment.

INTERNATIONAL EXAMPLES

(LIBERAL, SOCIAL DEMOCRATIC, CONSERVATIVE)

THESE INTERNATIONAL EXAMPLES were chosen to give an example of the different approaches in use across the globe. Within the different welfare states, there can be a diversity of approaches. None of these specific examples are sanctioned here as being shining lights; there are pitfalls to every approach. These are examples of different ways of doing child care—some that are more hands-off and others that involve a high level of government intervention.

UNITED STATES: LIBERAL CHILD CARE POLICY

Child-care subsidies in the United States are targeted. Given little federal involvement in parental leave to date, it's easy to say that the United States has no family benefits.⁵⁰ This is not, however, entirely the case.

In 1996 the Child Care and Development Block Grant (CCDBG) was created via an amalgamation of other child care subsidies. It is the largest source of federal funding for child care subsidies and goes to low-income families who are working or going to school. The Block Grant goes to the states who then, within particular rules, can choose how to use it. The second largest source of federal support is the Dependent Care Tax Credit, which also helps to offset child care expenses via taxes.⁵¹

The CCDBG program was amended and reauthorized in 1996 as part of welfare reform in the United States. The five goals of the 1996 reform were as follows:

- 1) Maximum flexibility for states
- 2) Parental choice
- 3) Consumer education for parents to make an informed choice
- 4) Help for parents who want to work, and therefore could come off of public assistance
- 5) Help for states to improve health, safety licensing, and registration standards⁵²

Given the separation of church and state in the United States, the federal government could not legally or directly fund religious providers. With vouchers, the federal government can subsidize parents to choose the form of care they prefer, religious or non-religious. Thus diversity is maintained, alongside federal funding.⁵³

^{50.} The United States has a low ranking for family spending, as does Canada. In asking one American about the fact that the OECD ranks Canada and the United States low on spending, he suggested another question to ask is *why a particular country needs to spend so much on early childhood and family policy*. Perhaps they have a history to overcome, for example, as might be the case of former Eastern Bloc countries still recovering after the fall of Communism.

^{51.} Karen E. Lynch, "The Child Care and Development Block Grant: Background and Funding," Congressional Research Service, January 30, 2014.

^{52.} Lynch, "Child Care and Development Block Grant," 4.

^{53.} Stanley Carlson-Thies, "Federally Funded Child Care Remains Hospitable to Faith-Based Providers," Institutional Religious Freedom Alliance (blog), December 8, 2014, http://www.irfalliance.org/federal-

Recent reforms in the Block Grant are making demands on the quality of child care. "To support this focus on quality, states are required to invest at least 7 percent of their federal award on quality improvement in FY 2016. This will increase to 8 percent in FY 2018 and 9 percent in FY 2020."⁵⁴

Block Grants for vouchers are one way of funding diversity in child care. The grants are also targeted to those who need it most and place responsibility for child care at the state level, closer to parents, rather than at the federal level.

SWEDEN AND FINLAND:

BOTH SOCIAL-DEMOCRATIC, DIFFERENT FAMILY POLICY

Jonas Himmelstrand is a Swedish Neufeld consultant who moved to Finland for their greater educational freedom. In spite of similarities, he remarks that there is no coherent Nordic model for family policy.⁵⁵ Finland consistently has the best education outcomes in the world, in no small part due to their neutral and equitable package of family benefits, as well as their overall approach to education.⁵⁶ He writes:

Finland and Sweden take opposite approaches. In Finland, a home care allowance is a feature of family policy, available to all who choose it and firmly supported by successive governments since 1985 until this day.

Finland has had financial support for parents since 1985. It is used by 56 percent of eligible children under three years of age (2011). The Finnish home care allowance is 340 euros (approximately CAD \$500) per month, per child age three and under after parental leave is over. Additional children under three get an additional 100 euros (about CAD \$150) per month. Children above three but under school age are given 65 euros (just under CAD \$100) per month, per child, as long as at least one child under three is at home.

All Nordic countries, with the exception of Sweden, offer some form of home care allowance to those who do not use tax-subsidized daycare after parental leave, up until the child's second (as in Norway) or third birthday.

Finland offers a choice of subsidized child care through either daycare or the home care allowance which can be used for home care, granny care, neighbour care or other private forms of care. Sweden for the last 40 years has offered only daycare on the national level with the exception of a few months in 1994.

ly-funded-child-care-remains-hospitable-to-faith-based-providers/.

^{54.} Michigan Department of Education Office of Great Start, "Building a Better Child Care System," Public Service Consultants, September 16, 2016, 10–11, http://www.publicsectorconsultants.com/2016/09/16/building-a-better-child-care-system/.

^{55.} Jonas Himmelstrand, "Made in Finland: Childcare Help for All Families," Institute of Marriage and Family Canada, September 30, 2015, http://www.imfcanada.org/archive/1115/made-finland-childcare-help-all-families.

^{56.} Erika Christakis, "The New Preschool Is Crushing Kids," *The Atlantic*, February 2016, https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2016/01/the-new-preschool-is-crushing-kids/419139/.

There is little political controversy in Finland about the home care allowance. This is in stark contrast to the Swedish view that public daycare is always best for child outcomes and gender equality. Sweden has essentially eschewed a home care allowance.

The Nordic countries all have a political culture of high taxes and high subsidies. In this context, Finland is offering variety—daycare and the home care allowance. Sweden on the other hand has chosen a child care monoculture, providing only institutional daycare. Finland has all the signs of more successful child outcomes.⁵⁷

Others observe the Finnish dedication to choice, as well. This article describes Finnish family policy in some detail:

The underlying principle of the development of the childcare system in Finland has been freedom of choice. In the 1960s, a variety of interest groups started to demand that women have equal opportunities to participate in the labour market. As a result, the Child Day Care Act was passed in 1973. But rather than settling competing demands for different kinds of support, the law provided an internationally unique synthesis of these preferences. Since 1990, families have been able to choose between enrolling their children in public day care or caring for their children at home until each child is three years old. As the cost of private day care is also reimbursed, there is public support for nearly all childcare arrangements.⁵⁸

It's important to note there is no one Nordic model for Canada to follow, and in this case, were we going to choose one example, we would need to think more Finland, less Sweden.

Finland consistently has the best educational outcomes in the world, which makes their policy worth studying for that alone. They have a program of family benefits that normalizes a measure of choice, be it to provide parental care in the first three years of a child's life, or use non-parental child care and return to paid work. The type of child care offered by professionals is of the nurturing and caring, as contrasted with educative models. Finnish child policy is expensive, and it doesn't reflect Canada's liberal traditions, which are unlikely to support anything nearing a three-year leave. That said, it provides some funding to parents, is child-friendly, and remains more generally neutral on the nature of parental choices in the first three years of a child's life. "The allowance consists of two parts: a fixed care allowance amount and a means-tested care supplement. The monthly care allowance is 341 euros for one child under age three, 102 euros for each additional child under age three, and 66 euros for an older sibling who is still under school age." 59

Finns also learned via trial and error that the idea of "universal" child care was too expensive, causing them to move to a more diverse model.

^{57.} Christakis, "The New Preschool Is Crushing Kids."

^{58.} Kaarina Korhonen, "Family Policies: Finland (2014)," Population Europe Resource Finder and Archive,

^{2014,} https://www.perfar.eu/policy/family-children/finland.

^{59.} Korhonen, "Family Policies: Finland."

FRANCE: CONSERVATIVE FAMILY POLICY

Spending on families is high in France.⁶⁰ Child care is available to children as young as two years old, and there are allowances for parents who employ different kinds of child minders at home. Policy is shifting to prioritize low-income families; a 2006 law required child care spaces to be held for poor or migrant families. In June 2013, the benefits of family taxation, "the Quotient Familial," were reduced and means-tested family supplements were increased.⁶¹

France is increasing spending on child care spaces as well. At the same time, families continue to get benefits that increase based on having more children. "Parents automatically receive a family allowance after the birth of the second dependent child, and until the child reaches age 20. . . . After the birth of the third child . . . the parents are entitled to additional family support ... subject to means testing." 62 Family policy is changing in France, in some instances due to shifting ideological trends, for example, to increase women's labour-force participation and in other instances due to austerity measures. These may, in fact, act as one and the same motivation since increased labour-force participation is a factor in increasing GDP, and can be achieved via incentives for mothers of young children to work even earlier than they currently do.



^{60. &}quot;Social Protection—Family Benefits Public Spending," Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, http://data.oecd.org/socialexp/family-benefits-public-spending.htm and https://www.oecd.org/els/soc/PF1_1_Public_spending_on_family_benefits.pdf (accessed June 12, 2018).

^{61. &}quot;Family Policies: France (2014)," Population Europe Resource Finder and Archive, 2014, https://www.perfar.eu/policy/family-children/france.

^{62. &}quot;Family Policies: France (2014)."

HUNGARY: CONSERVATIVE OR SOCIAL DEMOCRATIC?

In 2017, Hungary spent 4.7 percent of GDP on family benefits, as contrasted with OECD average of 2.43 percent.⁶³ This includes tax breaks, service, and cash for families with children. This approach began in 2010. Day care and kindergarten are free, along with a host of other benefits, which places Hungary in the constellation of social democracy. Yet their constitution, adapted in 2011, identifies that marriage is the union of a man and a woman, and "the family as the basis of the survival of the nation."⁶⁴ This marks them as outliers in the OECD, and identifying the traditional Judeo-Christian family as the norm is something Marxist ideology eschews, making the label of "social democratic" incomplete. Hungary is likely a mix of social-democratic and conservative policy.

The purpose of Hungarian family policy is to encourage work, marriage, and fertility. ⁶⁵ Family benefits are generous—70 percent of salary for parents (mother or father) who stay home with a baby in the first year. Parental leave is three years in Hungary, and the payment diminishes but continues if parents stay home in the second and/or third year. Other aspects include free child care spaces and free kindergarten, free meals and books at day care and in school, subsidies for families building or buying homes, state intervention to decrease utility costs, a small tax benefit for those who get married, and baby bonds, as well as family vacation subsidies for in-Hungary travel.

While there is a small cash payment for parents who choose not to work, it doesn't compare with the benefits afforded parents who return to work. However, a parent who works will experience the tax benefits of having children even if the other parent is at home. It's possible that in a family with four children, the parents will pay no tax.

Of note, there are also tax incentives for employers to hire mothers who would like to return to work.

In 2010 Hungary's total fertility rate was at a precariously low rate of 1.2. (Replacement fertility rate is 2.1 children per woman of childbearing age.) In 2017, the fertility rate was 1.5. Certainly, this marks an improvement; however, it remains short of replacement fertility, and at a tremendous cost.

This example points to how difficult it is to coax fertility up to replacement using government policy levers. This speaks to the need to remove child care policy from policies pertaining to GDP enhancement, labour-force building, or gender equity and place it squarely in the domain of family policy. All manner of justifications have been used to create versions of child care policy. Some of these justifications may seem important, but this is not the point: Child care is family policy. Given the sensitive age of the children involved and what research shows about the importance of the early years, child care policy exists to serve families, not the other way around. Government neutrality, one of our child care principles, will enhance parental choice, and given free choice some parents will choose workforce participation, while others will choose parental child care.

^{63. &}quot;Social Protection"; and "Hungarian Government's Allocation for Families Is Unparalleled in Europe," About Hungary, December 29, 2016, http://abouthungary.hu/news-in-brief/hungarian-governments-allocation-for-families-is-unparalleled-in-europe/.

^{64.} National Assembly of Hungary, "Fundamental Law of Hungary" (n.d.), Wikisource.

^{65.} Lyman Stone, "Is Hungary Experiencing a Policy-Induced Baby Boom?," Institute for Family Studies, July 10, 2018, https://ifstudies.org/blog/is-hungary-experiencing-a-policy-induced-baby-boom.

CARING FOR PRESCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN: WHY INSTITUTIONAL "EARLY LEARNING" DOESN'T HELP

VERY LITTLE ABOUT this white paper would make any sense if we saw benefits from the provision of Quebec-style early-learning and care systems or plans. Of course, early care and consideration in the first years of life is very important for our youngest children before entering grade one, and this is a consensus point between those advocating for "universal" child care and those who prefer other more equitable forms of family support. The early years always matter. But why and how?

Any movement aiming to ensure that diverse forms of caring are accessible to all parents as a matter of routine will need to make the case as to why deliberate "early-learning" programs are not important, particularly in a knowledge-based economy. The answer reflects the age of the children involved and concepts of identity and security. These get wrapped up in one word: attachment. The question of "early learning" hinges on whether children are developmentally ready to learn at ages as young as twelve months, and two or three years old. While much can be said about the best environments in which to learn, this short section will discuss whether "early learning," and early interaction with peers improves socialization.

Surprisingly, Canadian developmental psychologist Gordon Neufeld says this is not the case, particularly in sending young children into "social" environments before they are ready.⁶⁶

SOCIALIZATION VS. BEING SOCIAL

Socialization in childrearing means rendering children fit for society so that children can grow and mature into becoming contributing adults, who can respectfully interact with others in community, be it at work or home, with colleagues, family, and friends. Cognitive learning, while important, is secondary to ensuring that young children have the ability to engage in cognitive learning. Little kids who feel anxious, fearful, or cannot "hold on to themselves," are not in a position to learn.

According to Neufeld and his colleagues at the Neufeld Institute, socialization is more complex than simply being able to get along well with others. Socialization also involves the ability to be true to one-self. Surprisingly, constant agreement and being nice may, in fact, be immaturity in disguise. "You have to be separate enough so you can be with your equals without losing your distinctiveness," says Neufeld.

He goes on. "Premature socialization," says Neufeld, "was always considered by developmentalists to be the greatest sin in raising children. . . . When you put children together prematurely before they can hold on to themselves, then they become like [the others] and it crushes the individuality rather than hones it."

^{66.} This section is a shortened version of the cited article, which relies heavily on interviews with Canadian developmental psychologist Gordon Neufeld. Andrea Mrozek, "Nurturing Children: Why 'Early Learning' Doesn't Help," Institute of Marriage and Family Canada, August 30, 2012, https://www.imfcanada.org/archive/685/nurturing-children-why-early-learning-does-not-help.

THE PROBLEM OF PEER-ORIENTATION

One of the issues with large numbers of little people in group-care settings is the issue of peer orientation. This means having small children attach to their peers, rather than to adults. A need to be aware of peer-orientation exists whether or not child care is "universal." Furthermore, peer-orientation remains an issue for older children and teens as well. Importantly, regardless of the form of child care a parent chooses, and for older children as well, there are ways to mitigate peer-orientation concerns.⁶⁷

Successful early attachment is **necessary** for adult emotional development.

The concept of attachment, developed primarily by psychologist John Bowlby, denotes the instinct that causes adults to care for children and children to receive that care. Successful early attachment is necessary for adult emotional development. In Bowlby's words, attachment is the tendency "of human beings to make strong affectional bonds to particular others." As humans, we are

highly sociable creatures. But we identify some relationships as being higher priority, and are very particular about who takes that position. It is through these connections that we develop a sense of self.

When small children spend too much time with their peers, they will imitate the features of those they see around them. Diversity—creating it, respecting it, and allowing it to flourish—is one of today's most popular buzzwords, something to which we pay lip service. However, the early placement of children with as-of-yet undeveloped personalities in group day care for long hours, when they aren't able to "hold on to" their own special, unique personalities, creates peer pressure toward sameness, not individuality.

This is, in many instances, one of the reasons parents might choose to delay entry to school. In fact, for much of Canada's history, children did not attend so-called early learning programs; school started at age six. Ironically, some who advocate for homeschooling—meaning that even at age six, their children do not enter a typical school environment—do so in order for proper socialization to occur. In Home Schooling and the Question of Socialization, author Richard G. Medlin highlights how healthy socialization does happen for homeschoolers, writing, "Home-schooled children are taking part in the daily routines of their communities. They are certainly not isolated; in fact, they associate with—and feel close to—all sorts of people."

When asked about the gains from early learning for small children, Neufeld simply replies, "I don't think there is anything to be gained except parental emancipation. And certainly not parental fulfillment. That's a totally different issue."

This is not intended to panic parents whose young children are in all-day care. However, it is wise to understand why your children are there. Some parents put their children in care for the express purpose of socializing them; there is not a research-based reason to do so.

Parents can also take comfort in knowing, Neufeld emphasizes, regardless of care situation, who parents are to their children matters more than what they do. For parents whose children must be in care, it would be wise to confirm that the "early learning" is limited exclusively to playing in an environment of adult attachment.

^{67.} Libby Simon, "Six Ways to Maintain Attachment When Using Daycare," Cardus, October 25, 2017, https://www.cardus.ca/research/family/articles/six-ways-to-maintain-attachment-when-using-daycare/.

THE IMPORTANCE OF EMOTIONAL INTIMACY

According to Neufeld, the capacity for healthy relationships unfolds in the first six years of life. "It's a very basic agenda," he says. "By the fifth year of life if everything is continuous and safe then emotional intimacy begins. A child gives his heart to whomever he is attached to and that is an incredibly important part. . . . The first issue is always to establish strong, deep emotional connections with those who are raising you. And that should be our emphasis in society. If we did this, we would send our children to school late, not early."

To serve this purpose, where parents can choose their own village of adults surrounding a child, parents must be able to freely choose their preferred care environment. This choice is hindered when funding is given preferentially based on the type of care.

This reality speaks to the need to define child care as the care of a child, no matter who does it. The effect of current definitions, which do not include parents or family, is to discriminate against parents and family. What a definition change would signal is inclusivity. While many professionals do a wonderful job working with children, this should not be emphasized at the expense of family and parental care.

RECOMMENDATION: Letting funding follow the child, not spaces, allows parents to make choices that work for their family, in keeping with attachment and developmental science. If a parent chooses parental child care, then fund that. If a parent wants to use non-parental child care, then fund parents to pay for that. Maintain state neutrality toward the care of children. That funding should be divided equitably among all kids by age and likely, though not necessarily, by income.

WHAT'S HAPPENING IN QUEBEC?

IN 1997 QUEBEC introduced province-wide "universal" day care. Initially set at five dollars a day, it rose to seven, and is now attached to income. For some activists and academics, this system provides a model for the rest of Canada. In 2004, the OECD Directorate for Education proclaimed Canada's early-learning strategy was inadequate with the exception of "the advance made by Québec, which has launched one of the most ambitious early education and care policies in North America." (Unfortunately, they stated this without visiting Quebec.)

Love it or hate it, undue attention is placed on Quebec's model as the only of its kind in Canada.

There are metrics for measuring the success or failure of the Quebec "universal" child care system. Whether the system pays for itself, whether it is truly "universal," and mothers' increased labour-force participation are all angles to consider. 70

However, the focal point of this short section will be on the research pertaining to child outcomes.

^{68.} Catherine Benesch, Paul Malvern, and Andrea Mrozek, "A Québec Family Portrait," Institute for Marriage and Family Canada, November 2011, https://www.imfcanada.org/archive/247/qu%C3%A9bec-family-portrait.

^{69.} Norma Kozhaya, "Quebec's Failed Child-Care Model," Montreal Economic Institute, May 10, 2007, https://www.iedm.org/1921-quebecs-failed-child-care-model.

^{70.} Geloso, "Subsidized Daycare—What British Columbia Can Learn from Quebec's 20-Year Experiment."



A 2005 study by economists Michael Baker, Jonathan Gruber, and Kevin Milligan found that the Quebec child care system doesn't usher in increased wellness for children. The authors comment that "children were worse off in the years following the introduction of the universal child care program."71 They continue: "We studied a wide range of measures of child well-being, from anxiety and hyperactivity to social and motor skills. For almost every measure, we find that the increased use of child care was associated with a decrease in their well-being relative to other children."

In 2011 a paper by economists Pierre Lefebvre, Philip Merrigan, and Francis Roy-Desrosiers showed the child care system does not improve learning outcomes for children. "Our evidence does not reveal positive effects of the policy on cognitive development for both 4- and 5-year olds," the authors write.⁷²

Other economists began to wonder about these Baker, Gruber, and Milligan outcomes—questioning whether this could really be true. So economists Steven Lehrer and Michael Kottelenberg decided to check, assuming the results would not be replicated.⁷³ They surprised themselves. "The main result we found was that Baker, Gruber and Milligan's work is 100 per cent correct. It's robust. If anything, in our own work, including a paper that came out in Canadian Public Policy and won 'best paper award' for that year, it actually finds the effects get larger over time, on average," says Lehrer.⁷⁴

^{71.} Michael Baker, Jonathan Gruber, and Kevin Milligan, "Universal childcare, maternal labor supply, and family well-being." *Journal of Political Economy* 116 (2008), 709–745.

^{72.} Pierre Lefebvre, Philip Merrigan, and Francis Roy-Desrosiers, "Québec's Childcare Universal Low Fees Policy 10 Years After: Effects, Costs and Benefits," Centre Interuniversitaire sur le Risque, les Politiques Économiques et l'Emploi, October 2010, 3.

^{73.} Andrea Mrozek, "Daycare Demands Diversity," *Convivium*, March 20, 2018, https://www.convivium.ca/articles/daycare-demands-diversity.

^{74.} Mrozek, "Daycare Demands Diversity."

Baker, Gruber, and Milligan released another study in 2015, which showed that "negative non-cognitive effects persisted to school ages, and also that cohorts with increased child care access subsequently had worse health, lower life satisfaction, and higher crime rates later in life."⁷⁵

Lehrer and Kottelenberg subsequently released related research in 2018 about how the different genders respond to Quebec's subsidized child care policy, finding outcomes were different for boys versus girls. They attributed this, at least in part, to changed parental responses. They write: "What we found was that the lion's share of the negative effects in the program were actually coming from the boys. The negative effects were larger for boys. Exactly why this is so is really hard to pinpoint. But these gender differences are important to know."

When someone alludes to "universal" positive gains from early-learning programs, typically the research basis for this is found in something called The Perry Preschool Project. Perry Preschool was a small, high-intensive, and targeted intervention with fewer than one hundred high-risk kids in Michigan. To extrapolate from that study to suggest that "universal" programs work for hundreds of

For almost every measure, an increased use of child care was associated with a decrease in their well-being relative to other children.

- Michael Baker, Jonathan Gruber, and Kevin Milligan

thousands of children is an assumption, not research-based evidence. Economist Kevin Milligan puts it this way in an interview: "The criticism I have is that it's not obvious that what we learn from those studies can be applied to the case of [larger-scale programs like full-day kindergarten]. You could make that leap, and say, yes, the return from these intensive interventions on at-risk kids would be just the same for all families. However, that is a very strong assumption and I don't see that assumption being discussed very appropriately or openly."⁷⁹

RECOMMENDATION: Where governments have a more social-democratic history, as is the case in Quebec, one important recommendation is to think Finland, not Sweden. Finnish child policy is expensive, and it doesn't reflect Canada's liberal traditions, which are unlikely to support anything nearing a three-year leave. That said, it provides some funding to parents, is child-friendly, and remains more generally neutral on the nature of parental choices in the first three years of a child's life.

^{75.} Baker, Gruber, and Milligan, "Non-cognitive Deficits and Young Adult Outcomes."

^{76.} Michael J. Kottelenberg and Steven F. Lehrer, "Does Quebec's Subsidized Child Care Policy Give Boys and Girls an Equal Start?," *Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue Canadienne d'économique* 51, no. 2 (n.d.): 627–59, https://doi.org/10.1111/caje.12333.

^{77.} Mrozek, "Daycare Demands Diversity."

^{78.} Kevin Milligan, "The Lesson from Quebec Childcare: Do More to Build Early Skills," *Maclean's*, September 23, 2015, https://www.macleans.ca/economy/economicanalysis/want-to-help-kids-build-skills-instead-of-pointing-fingers/.

^{79.} Andrea Mrozek, "Talking to Economist Kevin Milligan," Institute for Marriage and Family Canada, 2010, https://www.imfcanada.org/archive/61/talking-economist-kevin-milligan.

IS THERE A CHILD CARE SPACE SHORTAGE . . . OR A SURPLUS?

FROM THE MEDIA and from parents we hear that finding non-parental child care can be stressful. Simultaneously, data for British Columbia⁸⁰ and Toronto⁸¹ show there are surplus spaces, sometimes to the tune of one in three child care spaces lying vacant every month.⁸² So do we have a shortage or a surplus?

The truth is, it's possible to have both at the same time.

Here are some reasons why this contradictory situation exists simultaneously:

- Government provision of care is inflexible. Surveys show that parents do not prefer centre-based care, choosing instead home-like environments.⁸³ Today, governments are building more and more centre-based spaces. This may be why in British Columbia we see that centres with forty or more spaces have the highest vacancies as contrasted with facilities with fewer spaces.⁸⁴
- The funding of facilities rather than families means parents can't take their money to a convenient place for them. If spaces are funded, then often the space can be funded and remain empty. Naturally, in a city the size of Toronto, if there is a vacant and funded space in Scarborough, a parent living in Etobicoke can't use it. The hypothetical centre in Scarborough will not announce that they are getting money for a space for which there is no demand.
- Cost is another factor making finding care difficult. If subsidies are not targeted effectively, some
 parents may not be able to use available spaces due to cost.
- This leads to another point about government intrusion in child care. In Ontario, roughly 80,000 spaces were lost in 2014 when a new Ontario child care act limited the number of children under two that independent providers could have in their care.
- Once care is subsidized to be much cheaper than market value, it's unlikely that there will ever be
 enough spaces to meet newly inflated demand. For more on why supply cannot meet demand, see
 the next section, which explains the economic phenomenon called "cost disease."

^{80.} Andrea Mrozek and Helen Ward, "Daycare Vacancy Rates in British Columbia: The Untold Story," Cardus Family, December 4, 2017, https://www.cardus.ca/research/family/articles/daycare-vacancy-rates-in-british-columbia-the-untold-story/.

^{81.} Andrea Mrozek, "Toronto's Increasing Daycare Surplus," Cardus Family, April 25, 2017, https://www.cardus.ca/research/family/articles/torontos-increasing-daycare-surplus/.

^{82.} Mrozek and Ward, "Daycare Vacancy Rates in British Columbia."

^{83.} August, "What Child Care Do Parents Really Want?"

^{84. &}quot;Ministry of Children and Family Development Performance Management Report," 20, https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/family-and-social-supports/services-supports-for-parents-with-young-children/reporting-monitoring/00-public-ministry-reports/volume_8_draftv7.pdf (accessed September 18, 2018).

^{85.} Heidi Higgins et al., "Playing Fair: Supporting Independent Childcare Providers," Coalition of Independent Childcare Providers, May 2017, http://www.cicpo.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/CICPO-Recommendations-Website-Version-2.pdf.

- The age of the child can make finding care difficult whether publicly or privately provided. The younger the child, the harder it is to find care. Providers generally run on tight margins, and the cost of caring for infants is very high, making the care of too many infants a difficult business model.
- Parental work schedules can also make finding care difficult. Those doing shift work will struggle
 to find care outside regular business hours.
- High-quality care is always hard to find. Evidence shows that the quality of state-regulated child care is mediocre or poor.⁸⁶
- A final point would be to highlight how the conclusion that there is a shortage is often reached, which is by examining the availability of licensed, centre-based spaces and contrasting this with the total number of children in a particular jurisdiction or province. The number of centre-based spaces is often low, because this is not parental preference, and certainly small in contrast with the total number of children of a particular age. This makes the shortage storyline largely fabrication, since it doesn't account for parental desires for other forms of care.

When there is a mismatch between parental desire and what governments offer; and when governments furthermore curtail the non-government (independent provider) supply courtesy of bad legislation; and finally, when the realities of care for off-business hours and for infants are tough regardless—this is when we get a situation of surplus and shortage at the same time.



86. Goelman, Hillel; Doherty, Gillian; Lero, Donna S.; LaGrange, Annette; Tougas, Jocelyne, "Caring and Learning Environments: Quality in Child Care Centres across Canada. You Bet I Care!", Guelph Univ. (Ontario). Centre for Families, Work and Well-Being. (2000). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED453904.pdf



WHY "UNIVERSAL" CHILD CARE IS THE MOST EXPENSIVE AND THE LEAST SUSTAINABLE

WHEN CARE FEELS hard for parents to find, it is easy to fall back on what looks like a simple solution: a government plan of "universal" care. This is the most costly path a government can take, be it provincial or federal, when contrasted with encouraging independent providers or funding parental/family care. Why are "universal" plans the most costly? Below are some key reasons.

- 1) CAPITAL/INFRASTRUCTURE | Independent care providers live in homes where there is existing space, without the need of spending government money to build it. Centre spaces, the form of care the government prefers, need to buy land, build the spaces, or rent suitable space before they can get started. This space, unlike independent home providers, will likely be designated commercial space rather than residential, which beyond the duplication (creation of spaces where spaces already existed in homes in the communities) is an additional cost. These centres, based on the size and nature of the business, would also see a rise in insurance costs.
- 2) BUREAUCRACY | A major cost of government-run "universal" systems is the staff to over-see the system, which has little to do with creating spaces. Government regulation, oversight, research, promotion, and advocacy occur at a cost that is higher than in other forms of care. When strangers, even the most qualified and caring of strangers, are looking after children, as contrasted with local neighbourhood or family care, the costs to ensure oversight, security, safety, and regulations all rise. Larger group sizes than what an independent provider typically has ensures this is always the case.
- 3) WAGES | The trend in "universal" plans is to unionize workers. This is why unions are enthusiastically behind the push for "universal" systems. In Quebec, unionizing home-based child care workers cost more than \$1 billion. Strikes that put parents in a difficult position. Unionization creates rules about who can work

^{87.} Kelly-Gagnon, "Quebec's Costly Daycare Experiment."

in a child care centre—what kind of credentials they must have, and what they must earn. Increased training may or may not correspond with the best care for the child and increases costs.

- 4) IDEOLOGY | Recent governments have been deliberate in curtailing the independent provision of child care. In seeking to establish "universality" of care, recent governments did not actually mean universality of care, as that is the very nature of having children—they need to be cared for all the time and are born into families for this purpose. The "universality" must be public, not-for-profit care. To this they add the requirement that a space be available for every child of child care age. This is neither desirable nor possible, as wait lists in Quebec's so-called universal system show. However, the push for more spaces is a constant upward push on costs. The cost growth can be exponential, and the Quebec example proves this point. From 300 million in 1997–1998 to 2.6 billion in 2014–2015, that's an increase of over 700 percent.⁸⁸
- 5) MONITORING | The further from a home-care environment a day care is, the higher the costs to maintain even a basic level of care. Instead of trusting the care provider in a small, home-like setting, government monitoring is required, often for legal or insurance purposes. (Some regulations, like the size of a pail that can be present in a day care, don't have to do with safety, but do involve meeting insurance providers' demands.)
- 6) CLEANLINESS/SECURITY | While a small home-based care centre will have cleaning costs, those costs increase when a business must hire professional cleaners. There are unique hygiene issues that providers with large numbers of infants and toddlers face. One Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare study showed that children in child care centres were 6.78 times more likely to be sick than kids at home. Cleanliness is a heightened challenge in all care, but especially in centre-based care. Security speaks to the need to ensure that protocols are in place, particularly if a day care is adjoined to a school where older students are present. School violence, while muted in Canada to date, is real. While violent gun attacks, for example, may be a lesser problem, there are still real risks for child abduction. Further, children wander, and security is important to ensure children are kept safe/contained.

Interestingly, other nations that once tried to provide a child care spot for every child ended their plans in part because, as was the case in Finland, "providing day care places to all of the children who needed care was found too expensive."⁸⁹ Current family benefits in Finland are robust, involving payment to families of children age three and below who want to stay home. Yet this is apparently less costly than "universal" care.

Building on the successful Canada Child Benefit is far more cost effective than creating spaces. This is an effective model that supports families in their diverse choices. It is already in operation. The amount a family receives is geared to income. Monthly amounts should be increased, including for middle-income families for whom child-care-related expenses are a significant burden. Importantly, other child care funding should be transferred and gradually eliminated to offset the costs of increasing this benefit.

^{88.} Kelly-Gagnon, "Quebec's Costly Daycare Experiment."

^{89.} Korhonen, "Family Policies: Finland."

HOW CHILD CARE SUBSIDIES INCREASE THE COST OF CHILD CARE FOR EVERYONE

IT IS FRUSTRATING to see public policy that has the directly opposite effect than what we are told it will do. Parents struggle with the cost of child care. So what has the public policy response been? To increase the cost of child care. How has this been achieved? By subsidizing child care, which permanently increases the cost of child care to all of us.

A brief explanation should suffice.⁹⁰

The reason why subsidies for child care actually increase the cost of child care is an economic phenomenon called "cost disease." Cost disease is the term used to explain why certain sectors of the economy, particularly education, will see costs rise more than other sectors in the same time period.

In other sectors of the economy, take technology, for example, innovations help the sector produce more and do better. For example, we no longer have computers the size of houses that are unattainable to the average person. Innovation may increase costs short term when people want the latest iPhone and everyone lines up to get it, but in the medium to long run, it drives costs down and iPhones become widely accessible.

Child care, due to the nature of the business, isn't like this. It is immune to innovation. You will always need a particular ratio of adults to children in child care. The care of infants, for example, offers no flexibility in how to do it. One adult can't look after ten—and we wouldn't want them to. There's little we can do to make child care centres more efficient.

So then the question is, why would subsidies raise costs? Subsidies represent an increase in demand, because they artificially push the costs down—and suddenly more people jump in to "demand" that service, particularly if this is in contrast with other unsubsidized forms of care. With increased demand comes the need for more supply. More supply can only be met by more workers. There are barriers to entering the child care workforce, sometimes artificial ones, for example, high education requirements to get an early childhood certificate. In order to get in more workers, the costs of wages must rise to attract more workers, to meet the newly inflated demand. And on it goes, upward and upward.

Subsidies to parents do not achieve this increased cost outcome because the parental subsidy will naturally see parents choose from a range of options, not the one form the government chose to subsidize. They will have babysitters, family members, nannies, and they will turn to local homes and co-ops where a couple of spaces are provided nearby—a far cry from the centre-based care government subsidizes. In effect, subsidies to parents allows them to use existing child care sources—the ones that don't need new infrastructure to be built, the ones that don't need additional security/education/training—all because they were found in parents' natural communities.

RECOMMENDATION: A response to this is to let funding follow the child, not spaces. If a parent chooses parental child care, then fund that. If a parent wants to use non-parental child care, then fund parents to pay for that. Maintain state neutrality toward the care of children. That funding should be divided equitably among all kids by age and likely, though not necessarily, by income.

^{90.} This section is drawn from Samuel Hammond's work: Samuel Hammond, "Cash Is Superior to Child Care," Niskanen Center, June 26, 2017, https://niskanencenter.org/blog/cash-superior-child-care/.

A POSITIVE VISION OF FAMILY POLICY: SUGGESTIONS AND SOLUTIONS

FEDERAL RECOMMENDATIONS

CANADA'S APPROACH TO FAMILY **policy has long been heterogeneous.** No particular path in child care should be taken for granted, or assumed to be more effective, or more "Canadian." We have many options available to us, based in our history and tradition.

BUILD ON THE SUCCESSFUL **Canada Child Benefit.** This is an effective model that supports families in their diverse choices. It is already in operation. The amount a family receives is geared to income. Monthly amounts should be increased, including for middle-income families for whom child care related expenses are a significant burden. Importantly, other child care funding should be transferred and gradually eliminated to offset the costs of increasing this benefit.

WORK ON INCREASING the flexibility of parental leave. Allow for parents on leave to receive a higher level of employment income, before EI benefits are clawed back. Many parents would like to work up to twenty hours per week while on leave, but the current system doesn't make this feasible. Allowing for a small amount of part-time work while on leave would help parents stay engaged in their jobs and help businesses who may not need to hire a full-time replacement worker. This also eases transitions and sets up greater flexibility in the workforce, something many parents desire long after parental leave is over. Business can take their own approach to this, including the use of "keep-in-touch" programs for parents on parental leave.⁹¹

MAINTAIN NEUTRALITY toward market-based/independent child care. Diversity and choice are critical. Today we are witnessing unnecessary discrimination against market-based, home-based, or other private/independent child care. These forms of care are some of the most popular for parents as they often mimic the home environment more closely.

REMOVE CHILD CARE POLICY from policies pertaining to GDP enhancement, labour-force building, or gender equity and place it squarely in the domain of family policy. All manner of justifications have been used to create versions of child care policy. Some of these justifications may seem important, but this is not the point: Child care is family policy. Given the sensitive age of the children involved and what research shows about the importance of the early years, child care policy exists to serve families, not the other way around. Government neutrality, one of our child care principles, will enhance parental choice, and given free choice some parents will choose workforce participation, while others will choose parental child care.

MAXIMIZE THE FREEDOM of the federal-provincial bilateral agreements. There is space on the regulatory side to ensure and affirm flexibility. Diversity is an important quality to maintain, and true diversity flourishes where freedom is maintained for a community in a particular province to be

^{91.} Ivona Hideg et al., "Do Longer Maternity Leaves Hurt Women's Careers?," *Harvard Business Review*, September 14, 2018, https://hbr.org/2018/09/do-longer-maternity-leaves-hurt-womens-careers.

able to respond to child care needs in a manner that befits that community. We would prefer money go to parents, but where this is not the path government takes, maximum freedom must be allowed for provinces to act in accordance with citizens' desires. Separate plans for child care in Indigenous communities seems a hopeful sign in this regard.

THINK FINLAND, **not Sweden.** If spaces must be funded, the Finnish approach is superior to Sweden's. Finland consistently has the best educational outcomes in the world, which makes their education policy worth studying for that alone. They have a program of family benefits that normalizes a measure of choice, be it to provide parental care in the first three years of a child's life, or use non-parental child care and return to paid work. The type of child care offered by professionals is of the nurturing and caring, as contrasted with educative models. Finnish child policy is expensive, and it doesn't reflect Canada's liberal traditions, which are unlikely to support anything nearing a three-year leave. That said, it provides some funding to parents, is child-friendly, and remains more generally neutral on the nature of parental choices in the first three years of a child's life. "The allowance consists of two parts: a fixed care allowance amount and a means-tested care supplement. The monthly care allowance is 341 euros for one child under age three, 102 euros for each additional child under age three, and 66 euros for an older sibling who is still under school age." Important to note is that the Finns also learned via trial and error that the idea of "universal" child care was too expensive, causing them to move to a more diverse model.



DEFINE CHILD CARE as the care of a child, no matter who does it. The effect of current definitions, which do not include parents or family, is to discriminate against parents and family. What a definition change would signal is inclusivity. While many professionals do a wonderful job working with children, this should not be emphasized at the expense of family and parental care.

LOWER TAXES for families with children. Lowering family taxes provides a viable way for parents to be more self-sufficient, choosing what they do with the money they are not paying in taxes. Family taxation is one way to achieve this, and a simple lowering of individual taxes for those with children is another way.

PROVINCIAL RECOMMENDATIONS

LET FUNDING FOLLOW **the child, not spaces.** If a parent chooses parental child care, then fund that. If a parent wants to use non-parental child care, then fund parents to pay for that. Maintain state neutrality toward the care of children. That funding should be divided equitably among all kids by age and likely, though not necessarily, by income. For example, in British Columbia, the Affordable Child Care Allowance began in September 2018. Funding is on a sliding scale but parents who use non-parental care can get up to \$1,500 a month to spend on child care. ⁹³ If that were extended to parents who want to do parental child care, that would allow a lot of families to choose to do so.

IF A GOVERNMENT CHOOSES a tax rebate program for child care, broaden the definition of what constitutes child care to include all forms of child care, be it parental, family, home-based, nannies, or independent. If families don't have the money to pay for child care up front, include a voucher program for parents, not spaces. Vouchers should be in a dollar amount that reflects the cost of child care and could cover a whole range of options, from parental child care to institutionalized care, day homes, nannies, and family caregivers.

STOP DISCRIMINATION against market-based child care/independent child care. In some provinces there is a deliberate strangling of the private sector. This results in a decrease in spaces and choices. Opening the market up—under appropriate regulation and safety requirements, of course—would mean more choice for parents. Child-care provision can and should be allowed to be entrepreneurial activity.

REDUCE INEFFICIENCY in finding child care and improve data-gathering of child care providers. This kind of privately owned and operated service will help parents find and choose the proper non-parental child care service for their family. Digital tools such as online registries and mobile apps can accelerate the discovery of these services.⁹⁴

ESTABLISH A STABLE and unchanging age for kindergarten to begin. In Ontario, the goal appears to be to extend government-funded kindergarten to lower and lower ages. What this has done is create instability, and put non-parental child care providers out of business. Establishing an age at which kindergarten starts would ensure stability of the child care sector below that age, without the insecurity that the constant threat of government encroachment provokes in the sector. Kindergarten should also be targeted toward at-risk children who may actually benefit from the programs.

CHANGE THE REQUIREMENTS to become a qualified Early Childhood Educator. Qualifications are important, but education and training for staff at child cares can vary. More important than degrees are the presence of caring and empathetic adults in a high ratio of adults to children allowing for dialogue and listening. 95 Newcomers to Canada, for example, could enter into child care provision immediately without the barrier of lengthy and expensive degree and certificate programs.

^{93. &}quot;British Columbia: My Family Services," Government of British Columbia, https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content?id=FCC7ACF3C7BC4C0D8D56CA75D07F66E5 (accessed September 21, 2018).

^{94.} See existing services by child care entrepreneurs like Cubby Spot, http://www.cubbyspot.com/.

^{95.} Carollee Howes, Deborah A. Phillips, and Marcy Whitebook, "Thresholds of Quality: Implications for

STREAMLINE THE REPORTING process for independent child care inspectors. 6 Currently in Ontario, checks on the quality of child care in independent child care provision are widely variant between inspectors. Standardizing the approach would allow for consistent and objective reporting.

FACILITATE LICENSING in Ontario.⁹⁷ "Gaining accreditation for independent childcare providers can be a difficult and costly endeavour. . . . These agencies take a regular fee, per child, averaging \$10 per child, per day." There is often no benefit to the independent child care provider the result of licensing, however, there is a tremendous financial burden. Changing the problems of licensing would help return independent child care providers to the market in Ontario. Allowing independent child care providers to engage in a consultative process that would help form how licensing occurs will ease the burden on independent child care providers and create more options for families.



the Social Development of Children in Center-Based Child Care," Child Development 63, no. 2 (1992): 455–56.

^{96.} Higgins et al., "Playing Fair."

^{97.} Higgins et al., "Playing Fair."

APPENDIX: KINDERGARTEN, PROVINCE BY PROVINCE

PRESCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN receive care in the form of kindergarten. In some provinces, some children enter kindergarten at age three. Kindergarten is entrenched in our education system, and being extended to younger ages. It is included here to better understand this existing child care benefit in Canada.

In 2010–2011, BRITISH COLUMBIA phased in full-day kindergarten. Some were against the idea. 98 Others, like Vancouver school board chair Patti Bacchus, liked the idea of full-day kindergarten but were concerned about implementation. Bacchus said, "We're adding this—it's a positive program—but it shouldn't be at the cost of tried-and-true supports for students. We are losing special education teachers. We are losing counselors. We are losing ESL support."99

The provinces of ALBERTA, SASKATCHEWAN, and MANITOBA do not offer full-day, state-funded kindergarten.¹⁰⁰ Instead, they have a combination of half-day or otherwise part-time programs.

ONTARIO phased full-day kindergarten in, concluding the process in 2015. The move to full-day kindergarten was more costly than first estimated, ¹⁰¹ and simultaneously disrupted child care provision, closing some day cares down. ¹⁰²

QUEBEC introduced optional kindergarten in 1999.¹⁰³

NEWFOUNDLAND and LABRADOR began offering full-day kindergarten in 2016. In spite of hiring additional teachers, the process was less than smooth as students flooded unprepared classrooms.¹⁰⁴ Registration was open to children age four as of January 1 that school year.¹⁰⁵

^{98. &}quot;Critics Question Value of Full-Day Kindergarten in B.C.," *CTV News Vancouver*, September 7, 2010, https://bc.ctvnews.ca/critics-question-value-of-full-day-kindergarten-in-b-c-1.550129.

^{99.} Rebecca Lindell, "Not All Hands Are Up for Full-Day Kindergarten," *The Globe and Mail*, August 27, 2010, https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/british-columbia/not-all-hands-are-up-for-full-day-kindergarten/article4261064/.

^{100.} Atkinson Centre for Society and Child Development, "Full Day Kindergarten in Canada" (Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, n.d.), https://www.oise.utoronto.ca/atkinson/UserFiles/File/Policy%20 Commentaries/PolicyUpdate-FDKinCanada.pdf.

^{101.} Andrea Mrozek, "The High Cost of Early Learning," *The Globe and Mail*, November 24, 2009, https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/the-high-cost-of-early-learning/article4294421/.

^{102.} Kelly Pedro, "Experts Still Divided over Benefits of Full-Day Kindergarten Four Years after Rollout," *Ottawa Sun*, April 18, 2014, http://ottawasun.com/2014/04/17/evidence-of-whether-full-day-kindergarten-was-worth-the-15-billon-effort-remains-unclear-four-years-later/wcm/20c3d561-f397-4ad6-80ff-3da9aebb1366.

^{103.} Services Québec, "Education—Québec Portal," http://www.gouv.qc.ca/EN/LeQuebec/Pages/Education.aspx (accessed June 12, 2018).

^{104.} Ryan Cooke, "Full-Day Kindergarten Straining System, Pushing Teachers to Breaking Point," *CBC News*, February 19, 2017, http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/inside-the-class-room-full-day-kindergarten-1.3953553.

^{105. &}quot;Education and Early Childhood Development," Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, http://www.ed.gov.nl.ca/edu/k12/kindergarten.html (accessed June 12, 2018).

NOVA SCOTIA offers full-day kindergarten. In August 2017, the education minister Zach Churchill promised an extension to four-year-olds, which is currently available for some, not all.¹⁰⁶

Finally, NEW BRUNSWICK and PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND have mandatory full-day kindergarten for five-year-olds. 107



^{106.} Caroline Alphonso, "Ontario Children Gain Learning Benefits from Full-Day Kindergarten: Study," *The Globe and Mail*, August 9, 2017, https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/education/ontario-children-gain-learning-benefits-from-full-day-kindergarten-study/article35933248/.

107. Atkinson Centre for Society and Child Development, "Full Day Kindergarten in Canada."

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abu-Laban, Yasmeen. Gendering the Nation-State: Canadian and Comparative Perspectives. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 2009. https://www.ubcpress.ca/ gendering-the-nation-state.
- Adamson, Elizabeth, and Deborah Brennan. "Return of the Nanny: Public Policy towards in-Home Childcare in the UK, Canada and Australia." Social Policy and Administration 51, no. 7 (n.d.): 1386-1405. https://doi.org/10.1111/spol.12250.
- Advisory Council on Economic Growth. "Tapping Economic Potential through Broader Workforce Participation." Government of Canada. February 6, 2017. https://www.budget.gc.ca/acegccce/pdf/workforce-marche-travail-eng.pdf.
- Alphonso, Caroline. "Ontario Children Gain Learning Benefits from Full-Day Kindergarten: Study." The Globe and Mail. August 9, 2017. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/national/education/ontario-children-gain-learning-benefits-from-full-day-kindergarten-study/ article35933248/.
- Arsenault, Gabriel, Olivier Jacques, and Antonia Maioni. "What Makes Quebec Such an Outlier on Child Care?" Policy Options. April 24, 2018. http://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/ april-2018/what-makes-quebec-such-an-outlier-on-child-care/.
- Atkinson Centre for Society and Child Development. "Full Day Kindergarten in Canada." Ontario Institute for Studies in Education. https://www.oise.utoronto.ca/atkinson/UserFiles/File/ Policy%20Commentaries/PolicyUpdate-FDKinCanada.pdf.
- August, Rick. "What Child Care Do Parents Really Want?" Rickaugust.ca. August 2015. http://rickaugust.ca/what-child-care-do-parents-really-want/.
- Baker, Michael, Jonathan Gruber, and Kevin Milligan. "Non-cognitive Deficits and Young Adult Outcomes: The Long-Run Impacts of a Universal Child Care Program." National Bureau of Economic Research. September 2015. https://doi.org/10.3386/w21571.
- Michael Baker, Jonathan Gruber, and Kevin Milligan, "Universal childcare, maternal labor supply, and family well-being." Journal of Political Economy 116 (2008), 709–745.
- Beaujot, Roderic, Ching Jiangqin Du, and Zenaida Ravanera. "Family Policies in Quebec and the Rest of Canada: Implications for Fertility, Child-Care, Women's Paid Work, and Child Development Indicators." Canadian Public Policy. June 25, 2013. https://doi.org/10.3138/CPP.39.2.221.
- Béland, Daniel, Paula Blomqvist, Jørgen Goul Andersen, Joakim Palme, and Alex Waddan. "The Universal Decline of Universality? Social Policy Change in Canada, Denmark, Sweden and the UK." Social Policy and Administration 48, no. 7 (n.d.): 739-56. https://doi.org/10.1111/ spol.12064.
- Benesch, Catherine, Paul Malvern, and Andrea Mrozek. "A Québec Family Portrait." Institute of Marriage and Family Canada. November 2011. https://www.imfcanada.org/archive/247/ qu%C3%A9bec-family-portrait.

- "British Columbia: My Family Services." Government of British Columbia. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/ gov/content?id=FCC7ACF3C7BC4C0D8D56CA75D07F66E5. Accessed September 21, 2018.
- Britten, Liam. "2018 Budget Has Child-Care Rebates, Spaces but Not \$10-a-Day Child Care." CBC News. February 20, 2018. http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/ ndp-childcare-10-a-day-budget-1.4544266.
- Burton, Peter, and Shelley Phipps. "Economic Well-Being of Canadian Children." Canadian Public Policy 43, no. 4 (2017): 299-330. https://doi.org/10.3138/cpp.2017-039.
- Canada, Senate of. "Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology." June 7, 2007. https://sencanada.ca/en/committees/soci/.
- Carlson-Thies, Stanley. "Federally Funded Child Care Remains Hospitable to Faith-Based Providers." Institutional Religious Freedom Alliance (blog). December 8, 2014. http://www.irfalliance. org/federally-funded-child-care-remains-hospitable-to-faith-based-providers/.
- Child Care Canada. "The OECD and the Reconciliation Agenda: Competing Blueprints." Occasional Paper 20, Childcare Resource and Research Unit. 2005. http://www.childcarecanada.org/sites/ default/files/op20.pdf.
- Christakis, Erika. "The New Preschool Is Crushing Kids." The Atlantic. February 2016. https://www. theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2016/01/the-new-preschool-is-crushing-kids/419139/.
- Cooke, Ryan. "Full-Day Kindergarten Straining System, Pushing Teachers to Breaking Point." CBC News. February 19, 2017. http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/newfoundland-labrador/ inside-the-classroom-full-day-kindergarten-1.3953553.
- "Critics Question Value of Full-Day Kindergarten in B.C." CTV News Vancouver. September 7, 2010. https://bc.ctvnews.ca/critics-question-value-of-full-day-kindergarten-in-b-c-1.550129.
- Eichler, Margrit. Family Shifts: Families, Policies, and Gender Equality. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997.
- Employment and Social Development Canada. "Early Learning and Child Care Bilateral Agreements." Government of Canada. August 25, 2017. https://www.canada.ca/en/early-learning-childcare-agreement/agreements-provinces-territories.html.
- -. "Horizontal Initiatives 2015–16 Report on Plans and Priorities." Government of Canada. February 27, 2015. https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/corporate/reports/departmental-plan/2016/initiatives.html.
- .. "Multilateral Early Learning and Child Care Framework." Government of Canada. April 3, 2018. https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/programs/early-learningchild-care/reports/2017-multilateral-framework.html.
- "Equality Growth: A Strong Middle Class." Government of Canada. February 27, 2018, https://www. budget.gc.ca/2018/docs/plan/budget-2018-en.pdf.

- "Family Policies: France (2014)." Population Europe Resource Finder and Archive. 2014. https://www.perfar.eu/policy/family-children/france.
- Geloso, Vincent. "Subsidized Daycare—What British Columbia Can Learn from Quebec's 20-Year Experiment." Fraser Institute. 2018. http://bit.ly/2u4CIRM.
- Goelman, Hillel; Doherty, Gillian; Lero, Donna S.; LaGrange, Annette; Tougas, Jocelyne, "Caring and Learning Environments: Quality in Child Care Centres across Canada. You Bet I Care!", Guelph Univ. (Ontario). Centre for Families, Work and Well-Being. (2000). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED453904.pdf
- Gutkin, Harry, and Mildred Gutkin. "Manitoba History: 'Give Us Our Due!' How Manitoba Women Won the Vote." Manitoba Historical Society. Autumn 1996. http://www.mhs.mb.ca/docs/mb_history/32/womenwonthevote.shtml.
- Hammond, Samuel. "Cash Is Superior to Child Care." Niskanen Center. June 26, 2017. https://niskanencenter.org/blog/cash-superior-child-care/.
- Hideg, Ivona, Anja Krstic, Raymond Trau, and Tanya Zarina, "Do Longer Maternity Leaves Hurt Women's Careers?" Harvard Business Review. September 14, 2018. https://hbr.org/2018/09/do-longer-maternity-leaves-hurt-womens-careers.
- Higgins, Heidi, Christine Fredenburgh, Becky Jarvis Kurz, Karry Strelezki, Emily Allison, and Jillian Henderson. "Playing Fair: Supporting Independent Childcare Providers." Coalition of Independent Childcare Providers. May 2017. http://www.cicpo.ca/wp-content/up-loads/2016/09/CICPO-Recommendations-Website-Version-2.pdf.
- Himmelstrand, Jonas. "Made in Finland: Childcare Help for All Families." Institute of Marriage and Family Canada. September 30, 2015. http://www.imfcanada.org/archive/1115/made-finland-childcare-help-all-families.
- Howes, Carollee, Deborah A. Phillips, and Marcy Whitebook. "Thresholds of Quality: Implications for the Social Development of Children in Center-Based Child Care." Child Development 63, no. 2 (1992): 455–56.
- "Hungarian Government's Allocation for Families Is Unparalleled in Europe." About Hungary. December 29, 2016. http://abouthungary.hu/news-in-brief/hungarian-governments-allocation-for-families-is-unparalleled-in-europe/.
- Hungary, National Assembly of. "Fundamental Law of Hungary." n.d. Wikisource.
- Jenson, Jane. "Changing the Paradigm: Family Responsibility or Investing in Children." Canadian Journal of Sociology 29, no. 2 (2004): 169–92.
- Kelly-Gagnon, Michel. "Quebec's Costly Daycare Experiment." Montreal Economic Institute. August 24, 2015. https://www.iedm.org/55007-quebec-s-costly-daycare-experiment.
- "Education and Early Childhood Development." Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. http://www.ed.gov.nl.ca/edu/k12/kindergarten.html. Accessed June 12, 2018.

- Korhonen, Kaarina. "Family Policies: Finland (2014)." Population Europe Resource Finder and Archive. 2014. https://www.perfar.eu/policy/family-children/finland.
- Kottelenberg, Michael J., and Steven F. Lehrer. "Does Quebec's Subsidized Child Care Policy Give Boys and Girls an Equal Start?" Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue Canadienne d'économique 51, no. 2 (n.d.): 627–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/caje.12333.
- ———. "New Evidence on the Impacts of Access to and Attending Universal Childcare in Canada." National Bureau of Economic Research. February 2013. https://doi.org/10.3386/w18785.
- Kozhaya, Norma. "Quebec's Failed Child-Care Model." Montreal Economic Institute. May 10, 2007. https://www.iedm.org/1921-quebecs-failed-child-care-model.
- Lefebvre, Pierre, and Philip Merrigan. "Assessing Family Policy in Canada." Institute for Research on Public Policy 9, no. 5 (2003): http://irpp.org/research-studies/assessing-family-policy-in-canada/.
- Lefebvre, Pierre, Philip Merrigan, and Francis Roy-Desrosiers. "Québec's Childcare Universal Low Fees Policy 10 Years After: Effects, Costs and Benefits." Centre Interuniversitaire sur le Risque, les Politiques Économiques et l'Emploi. October 2010.
- Lindell, Rebecca. "Not All Hands Are up for Full-Day Kindergarten." The Globe and Mail. August 27, 2010. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/british-columbia/not-all-hands-are-up-for-full-day-kindergarten/article4261064/.
- Lynch, Karen E. "The Child Care and Development Block Grant: Background and Funding." Congressional Research Service Report. January 30, 2014.
- Mahon, Rianne. "Transnationalising (Child) Care Policy: the OECD and the World Bank." http://www.cccg.umontreal.ca/rc19/PDF/Mahon-R_Rc192009.pdf.
- Michigan Department of Education Office of Great Start. "Building a Better Child Care System." Public Service Consultants. September 16, 2016. http://www.publicsectorconsultants.com/2016/09/16/building-a-better-child-care-system/.
- Miljan, Lydia. Public Policy in Canada: An Introduction. 7th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2017.
- Milligan, Kevin. "Want to Help Kids? Build Skills Instead of Pointing Fingers." Maclean's. September 23, 2015. https://www.macleans.ca/economy/economicanalysis/want-to-help-kids-build-skills-instead-of-pointing-fingers/.
- "Ministry of Children and Family Development Performance Management Report." Government of British Columbia. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/family-and-social-supports/services-supports-for-parents-with-young-children/reporting-monitoring/00-public-ministry-reports/volume_8_draftv7.pdf. Accessed September 18, 2018.
- Mrozek, Andrea. "Daycare Demands Diversity." Convivium. March 20, 2018. https://www.convivium.ca/articles/daycare-demands-diversity.

- ———. "Nurturing Children: Why 'Early Learning' Doesn't Help." Institute of Marriage and Family Canada. August 30, 2012. https://www.imfcanada.org/archive/685/nurturing-children-why-early-learning-does-not-help.
- ———. "Talking to Economist Kevin Milligan." Institute of Marriage and Family Canada. 2010. https://www.imfcanada.org/archive/61/talking-economist-kevin-milligan.
- ———. "The High Cost of Early Learning." The Globe and Mail. November 24, 2009. https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/the-high-cost-of-early-learning/article4294421/.
- ——. "Toronto's Increasing Daycare Surplus." Cardus Family. April 25, 2017. https://www.cardus.ca/research/family/articles/torontos-increasing-daycare-surplus/.
- Mrozek, Andrea, and Helen Ward. "Daycare Vacancy Rates in British Columbia: The Untold Story." Cardus Family. December 4, 2017. https://www.cardus.ca/research/family/articles/daycare-vacancy-rates-in-british-columbia-the-untold-story/.
- Pankratz, Curt J. "Cross-National Comparisons of Family Policies: The Relevance of National Approaches to Social Welfare." Journal of Comparative Family Studies 40, no. 3 (2009): 493–511.
- Pedro, Kelly. "Experts Still Divided over Benefits of Full-Day Kindergarten Four Years after Rollout." Ottawa Sun. April 18, 2014. http://ottawasun.com/2014/04/17/evidence-of-whether-full-day-kindergarten-was-worth-the-15-billon-effort-remains-unclear-four-years-later/wcm/20c3d561-f397-4ad6-80ff-3da9aebb1366.
- Plante, Caroline. "Tax Season: Quebec Families Say Daycare Hike Will Take Bite Out of Their Budget." Montreal Gazette (blog). March 4, 2016. http://montrealgazette.com/news/quebec/tax-season-quebec-families-say-daycare-hike-will-take-bite-out-of-their-budget.
- Prentice, Susan. Changing Child Care. Halifax: Fernwood, 2001.
- Rouillard, Jacques, David Frank, Todd McCallum, and Bryan D. Palmer. "Working-Class History." The Canadian Encyclopedia. February 7, 2006; last modified May 28, 2018. https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/working-class-history/.
- Services Québec. "Education—Québec Portal." Accessed June 12, 2018. http://www.gouv.qc.ca/EN/LeQuebec/Pages/Education.aspx.
- Simon, Libby. "Six Ways to Maintain Attachment when Using Daycare." Cardus Family. October 25, 2017. https://www.cardus.ca/research/family/articles/six-ways-to-maintain-attachment-when-using-daycare/.
- "Social Protection—Family Benefits Public Spending." Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. http://data.oecd.org/socialexp/family-benefits-public-spending.htm. Accessed June 12, 2018.
- Statistics Canada and Health and Welfare Canada. "Canadian National Child Care Study, Introductory Report." Catalogue 89-526E. February 1992. http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2016/statcan/CS89-526-1992-eng.pdf.

- Stone, Lyman. "Is Hungary Experiencing a Policy-Induced Baby Boom?" Institute for Family Studies. July 10, 2018. https://ifstudies.org/blog/is-hungary-experiencing-a-policy-induced-baby-boom.
- Thévenon, Olivier. "Family Policies in OECD Countries: A Comparative Analysis." Population and Development Review 37, no. 1 (n.d.): 57-87. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2011.00390.x.
- Treasury Board of Canada. "Early Learning and Child Care." http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/hidb-bdih/planeng.aspx?Org=0&Hi=41&Pl=746. Accessed June 12, 2018.
- . "Early Learning and Child Care: Plans, Spending and Results." https://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/ hidb-bdih/initiative-eng.aspx?Hi=41&YrAn=2018. Accessed June 15, 2018.
- Vail, Stephen. "Family Values: Choosing a 'Made in Canada' Family Policy." Conference Board of Canada. January 2002. http://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-library/abstract. aspx?did=234&AspxAutoDetectCookieSupport=1.

CONTACT

Andrea Mrozek, Program Director of Cardus Family amrozek@cardus.ca

CARDUS FAMILY conducts, compiles and disseminates Canadian research on family and marriage and their strengthening impact on civil society.



cardus.ca/research/family

